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Preface and Acknowledgements
We are indebted to all those students at Universiti Teknologi Petronas (UTP) who gathered data on our behalf on the heritage and architecture of Ipoh as part of their undergraduate project work in anthropology and Malaysian Studies under the tutelage of Dr Mohamed Halib.  We have used some of the data they collected for this guide to Ipoh.

The project commenced in 2001 when Victor King was appointed as external examiner for the  General Studies programme at UTP. He spent a considerable amount of time when he was not marking papers and essays and attending meetings wandering around Ipoh taking in the local landscapes and street scenes and reading into the history of Perak. On calling into the Tourism Malaysia office in central Ipoh he discovered that there was not an easily accessible, user-friendly guide to the city, and one which would provide a reasonably detailed historical and cultural context for the interested visitor. He discussed this with Mohamed Halib and they both decided to organise undergraduate students to help them gather data, and also to collect materials on other important centres as well – the royal capital of Kuala Kangsar, the former colonial capital of Taiping, and the coastal areas of Lumut, Setiawan and Pangkor Island. Together we have spent many happy hours over the last six years visiting places and sites, gathering information in museums and libraries and talking with knowledgeable individuals about Perak.  We would like to thank in particular the Director and staff both at the Taiping Museum and the State Library and Archives in Ipoh.
One of Victor King’s former doctoral students, Dr Gywnn Jenkins, who is also a consultant architect and conservationist working in Penang, visited Ipoh on one occasion and took photographs and advised on the many impressive historic buildings in the city centre. Another colleague at UTP Azrai Abdullah, who has just completed his PhD at the University of Hull under Victor King’s supervision, chose to undertake research on the economic history of Perak and we are grateful to him for advice on some of the historical materials on his home state.
Given the long time that it has taken for us to produce this booklet it is perhaps not surprising that certain publications have since appeared which cover some of the same ground. However, in order not to disrupt the flow of the narrative we have dispensed with the normal academic conventions of referencing and footnoting. We have provided a bibliography for those who wish to undertake further reading. There are several items which have been indispensable to us in our work; the most important  are: a publication commissioned by the Ipoh Municipal Council and edited by Phoenix Communications Limited entitled Ipoh: the Town that Tin Built. A Review of the History, Progress and Development of Perak’s Capital, 1962, reprinted in 1995; a limited edition written by Professor Emeritus Dato Khoo Kay Kim on Taiping. The Vibrant Years. The Development of Taiping from 1876 until World War II, 2003, produced for the Taiping Tourist Association (in concept our book is rather similar in purpose and design to that of Professor Khoo); an issue of Heritage Asia which had a special Perak Focus (2004, volume 1, number 3); the excellent compilation by Arnold Wright as editor-in-chief, Twentieth Century Impressions of British Malaya: its History, People, Commerce, Industries, and Resources, 1908; and finally the truly comprehensive, scholarly and exquisitely produced book written for the Perak Academy by Khoo Salma Nasution and Abdur-Razzaq Lubis called Kinta Valley. Pioneering Malaysia’s Modern Development, 2005, with a preface by Professor Wang Gungwu; for those interested in pursuing the history of Ipoh and its environs in considerable detail then this last book is essential reading, and we have also relied heavily on it. However, it is a very substantial book; it would grace anyone’s coffee table and reference library and it is packed with informative photographs and illustrations and some beautiful, rarely seen images of Kinta from the late nineteenth century. But for the visitor who wants a light, easily manageable reference then the Perak Academy book is somewhat bulky and dense to serve that purpose, and hopefully this is where our book comes into its own. 
Victor King and Mohamed Halib

Ipoh, July 2008.

Introduction:  Perak and Ipoh

The Malaysian state of Perak Darul Ridzuan in the north-west region of Peninsular or West Malaysia is bordered by   the states of   Pulau Pinang (Penang) and Kedah in the north, as well as southern Thailand, Kelantan and Terengganu in the east and Selangor in the south. Its western borders fringe the northern section of the Straits of Melaka (Malacca).  It is one of the largest states in Malaysia in areal extent, covering some 21,000 square kilometres and, at its furthest points, stretches over a distance of 250 kilometres north to south and 150 kilometres east to west.   Yet it is still  relatively sparsely inhabited with a current population of just over two million heavily concentrated in the main valleys of the Perak,  Kinta and   Bernam rivers, and in the coastal regions of Lumut, Manjung and Kerian. Approximately 44 per cent of the population comprises Malays and other indigenes, 42 per cent Chinese, and 14 per cent Indians. About one-third of the population lives in the Kinta Valley, the major tributary of the Perak River and especially in the state capital Ipoh which had an estimated population of 710,800 in the year 2007. However, the greater Ipoh area which includes such settlements as Chemor, Jelapang, Falim, Menglembu and Tanjung Rambutan has just over one million people. In 2004 it was also estimated that about 70 per cent of the population of the city comprised Chinese, 17 per cent Malays and 12.5 per cent Indians. Other important urban centres in the Kinta Valley are Gopeng (100,000), Kampar (68,000) and Batu Gajah (34,000). Significant urban settlements elsewhere in Perak are the royal town of Kuala Kangsar and the seat of the Sultan of Perak (40,000), the former  colonial capital of Taiping (200,000), the old port of Teluk Intan  (formerly Teluk Anson) (110,000), and the coastal conurbation of Lumut and Sitiawan (128,000). 

In its heyday Perak was not only the most important state in British Malaya but also one of the most significant economic regions in the British Empire.  It was once a major producer of tin and rubber for world markets, although these commodities now play a relatively minor part in the modern Malaysian economy.  Perak's  increasing   global  significance from the latter part of the nineteenth century  and the wealth which flowed from this economic role have provided us today with a rich and fascinating historical legacy in the shape of colonial architecture, local religious buildings, traditional urban shop-houses, spacious mansions of the wealthy Chinese, and dramatic former  mining  landscapes.  The concern to secure reliable and regular supplies of tin for the world market was the crucial factor in British intervention in the Malay states.  The Malay sultans and local chiefs in Perak had introduced Chinese miners into their territories in the nineteenth century to exploit tin in return for a share of the revenue from the proceeds. A recurring theme in Perak’s history is the close relationship which was forged between local Malay landowners who recruited Chinese miners or leased their lands to Chinese entrepreneurs. Many Malays were also involved in the early development of tin-mining in that not only did they make land available and provide intelligence about where the tin deposits could be found, but they helped clear the land, and supplied timber, firewood and other materials to the Chinese mines.  They were also involved, as were Malay-speaking migrants such as the Mandailings from Sumatra, in the early exploitation of tin using ground sluicing methods.

Of the local territorial chiefs it was Che Long Ja’afar in Larut, an enterprising individual of Sumatran descent, who began to bring in Chinese workers on an appreciable scale in the 1840s. His first batch of miners, who were Chen Sang Hakka, led by Chung Ah Quee, numbered about 20; they were members of the Penang-based Hai San secret society. They settled in the Kota and Klian Pauh area. Another local leader of that society was Law Ah Sam. Another group of Hakka, the Fui Chew, moved into the Klian Bahru area, and were members of the Ghi Hin secret society. Generally these different groups of Hakka kept to their own territories and communities but there was some social and economic interaction, and, on occasion, Fui Chew mine-owners employed Chen Sang labourers, and even went into partnership with prominent Chen Sang businesspeople. Inevitably Chinese indentured immigrants in these dangerous and uncertain frontier societies joined these secret societies for reasons of personal security, protection, companionship and support.
By 1850 Long Ja’afar was exporting appreciable quantities of tin principally via the Larut River to Penang. Penang was a vitally important centre for the import and export trade from the interior and early Chinese immigration into Perak came via the port comprising both Chinese who had settled in Penang initially and those born there, and those born in China who had come directly to the Malay States in search of work; they were primarily Cantonese and Hakka (or Khek). Up to about 1820 there were only about 400 Chinese in the whole of Perak, but from the mid-nineteenth century numbers began to increase significantly in the Larut-Matang area. Long Ja’afar's mines were on land which was traditionally under the jurisdiction of one of the leading regional chieftains, Panglima Bukit Gantang Seri Amar Di Raja, who also happened to be Long Ja’afar's paternal uncle and father-in-law. Following his increasing prosperity and his success in administering the Larut district, Long Ja’afar managed to persuade the then Sultan, Shahabuddin, to grant him the land.  On his death on 8 November 1858, Long Ja’afar's son, Ngah Ibrahim, took over the role of district administrator. Subsequently he was conferred the title of Orang Kaya Menteri Sri Paduka Tuan by Sultan Ja’afar Mua’azzam Shah in 1863, and became one of the four major chiefs in Perak. Ngah Ibrahim established his administrative capital at Kota.  

As mining activity expanded and the potential for profits and wealth increased, tensions began to increase between Chinese miners from different clans, dialect groups and secret societies. These tensions also involved the Chinese financiers, patrons and prominent secret society members in Penang who were vital in the sponsorship and organisation of tin-mining in Perak. Other lucrative sources of revenue were derived from the control and taxing of opium, gambling and liquor. Eventually open conflict broke out between members of competing Chinese secret societies, specifically the Ghi Hin and Hai San, for the control of the richest tin-fields. There were also quarrels over water-courses, which were so important for the working of the mines. These then erupted into murder, the destruction of property, and fierce physical conflict into which the Malay overlords were drawn, but which they could neither control nor direct. Indeed, Ngah Ibrahim and his senior administrators favoured the Chen Sang Hakka, and supported them in their conflict with the Fui Chew. The troubles in Larut, which were referred to rather grandly as the ‘Larut Wars’, broke out in 1861 and again in 1865, though outbreaks of violence and feuding were not confined to Perak;  they were also rife in tin-mining areas further south in Selangor and Sungei Ujong.  The 1865 troubles resulted in the complete routing of the Fui Chew Hakka and about 2000 of them fled to Province Wellesley near Penang. They were then replaced by San Neng Cantonese, who were members of the Ho Hup Seah, a branch of the Ghi Hin, and led by Chin Ah Yam. 
A further conflict broke out in 1872, this time  between the Chen Sang and the San Neng; the Chen Sang were defeated along with their Malay allies by a combined force of San Neng and Ghi Hin Teochew who controlled the coastal areas of Perak south of Province Wellesley. The Chen Sang then called on the support of their commercial allies in Penang, the primarily Hokkien, Toa Peh Kong. The disturbances continued into 1873, and it was at this point that Captain TCS Speedy, the former Superintendent of Police in Penang, took up a position with Ngah Ibrahim, recruited a force of Indian sepoys and sided with the Hai San against the Ghi Hin. These disturbances severely disrupted trade and tin production.    

A succession dispute in the Perak sultanate also exacerbated the situation, which was in turn complicated by the involvement of ambitious and contending Malay chiefs. Following the death of Sultan Ali in 1871 he had been succeeded by Raja Ismail, the Raja Bendahara, who was equivalent to the prime-minister and commander-in-chief. For various reasons the main claimant to the throne, Raja Muda Abdullah did not exercise his right of succession at that time and the chiefs of Perak agreed that Raja Ismail should succeed with the title Sultan Ismail Mu’abiddin Riayat Shah. One of his staunchest supporters was Dato Panglima Kinta Zainal Abidin. Subsequently Raja Abdullah,  in a belated attempt to secure what he still considered to be his rightful succession, expressed his willingness to accept a British Resident or adviser at his court should British support deliver him the throne. Raja Abdullah was not on friendly terms with Ngah Ibrahim who had supported the then Sultan Ismail.  This political instability in Perak resulted in the successful conclusion of the Anglo-Malay Pangkor Engagement in 1874.  On 20 January 1874 Raja Abdullah and some of the Malay chieftains signed the Pangkor Treaty with the British thereby in effect deposing Sultan Ismail, who was given the title of Sultan Muda, a pension and a parcel of territory. In return for securing his succession and the deposition of Sultan Ismail, who was not a signatory to the Treaty, Abdullah agreed to accept a British officer to provide him with advice on all matters except those relating to Islam and Malay customs. Ngah Ibrahim and Sultan Ismail were effectively removed from power and in turn they lost control of the lucrative tin-mining areas of Larut. However, the Malay elite were divided, one faction supporting the newly installed Sultan and the other group remaining loyal to ex-Sultan Ismail.

This agreement was to provide the basis for the expansion of British power in the Malayan Peninsula. The British also concluded a separate agreement with the Chinese leaders of the secret societies which led to the disarmament of the Chinese and the dismantling of their fortifications. Eventually the British introduced a prohibition act in 1890 to suppress the secret societies.  In the early years of British intervention a British Assistant Resident was located at Larut; Captain Speedy was the obvious person to appoint to the post.  These initiatives were instigated and presided over by Sir Andrew Clarke, who had been appointed Governor of the Straits Settlements at Singapore in late 1873, and was charged with finding a solution to the turbulent situation in the tin-mining states. With this agreement Perak was incorporated increasingly into the British imperial economy through the production and export of commodities for the market. It is therefore no surprise that the British established and maintained a strong administrative presence in the two main centres of tin-mining in Taiping (and the Larut-Matang area) and then in Ipoh (and the Kinta Valley).  Indeed, at one time Ipoh was located at the heart of one of the richest and largest tin-mining fields in the world.

Geography and Land-use

A large part of Perak comprises highlands, especially in the north and east of the country, which cover over 50 per cent of the area of the state.  Much of this is clothed in primary and secondary forest, though some areas have been opened up for commercial logging, plantation development and mining.  Large areas of the foothills have been given over to estate crops, particularly rubber and oil palm. The landscape is dominated by the Main Range, a broad upland region which runs north to south down the spine Peninsular Malaysia. The Cameron Highlands, a former colonial hill station and now a resort and holiday destination as well as a major area for market gardening in the neighbouring state of Pahang, forms part of this upland mass, and can be reached from an impressive new highway south of Ipoh. For the more adventurous, the old winding, narrow road from Tapah, much further south of Ipoh, can also be taken.  The Bintang Range, an outlier of the Main Range, runs parallel to it in the west, and the smaller Kledang Range is wedged between the two. These are rugged ranges of granite and igneous rocks and there are spectacular forest-covered mountain landscapes to view on the main highway north and south of Ipoh, and especially on that stretch which cuts across the Kledang Range between Ipoh and the royal capital of Kuala Kangsar. 

The foothills and valley margins of the uplands comprise undulating sedimentary rocks and the most awe-inspiring scenery is to be found in the Kinta Valley surrounding Ipoh where isolated, vegetation-covered limestone outcrops stand up almost sheer from the valley floor. The limestone forms the bedrock of the valley floor and its margins on which alluvial and eluvial deposits have been laid down and it is these deposits, washed down from the surrounding uplands, which contain tin-bearing cassiterites, iron-ore and other minerals. The limestone outliers are the result of the slow erosion of the surrounding valley floor over millions of years. Some of the outcrops are being quarried for marble, building stone, brick clay and cement and therefore provide the basis for important local industries.  In a few of the outcrops there are also Buddhist temples (tong) and shrines, which also serve as local tourist attractions (see inset). 
The Sam Poh Tong cave temple is located in Gunung Rapat about five kilometres south of Ipoh. ‘Sam Poh Tong’ in Chinese means the cave with three treasures, which stand for ‘Buddha, Magic and Monk’. It is said to be the biggest cave temple in the country, and is an impressive work of art and faith, with various statues of the Buddha and deities interspersed among the natural stalactites and stalagmites in a huge limestone cave complex.  The entrance is an arch guarded by two lion statues. The present temple façade dates back to the 1950s and a stiff climb of 246 steps will lead the visitor to an open cave with an excellent view of Ipoh and its surroundings.  Other attractions include a Japanese pond with carps and tortoises by the cave entrance. There is also a vegetarian restaurant.

The temple consists of five major sections: Dou Shuai Kong, where people donate money, buy joss sticks and candles, and they can have their fortune told; then Wang Fan Tian where most of the statues of the Buddha are located; no one can light joss sticks there; then there are stairs to the statues of Buddha which are the guardians of the pathway to heaven; the fourth section contains portraits of hell where the Gods have placed criminal offenders and the doers of bad deeds. The final section, deep inside the cave and open to the air, contains the new five-storey pagoda, Ta Bei, a Pavilion for the Goddess of Mercy, an ‘anger’ fountain (which is thought to bring good fortune and protection), a wishing well and a tortoise pond. 

Another famous complex about six kilometres north of Ipoh is the Perak Tong which contains over 40 statues of the Buddha, the most imposing of which comprises a 12.8 metre-high sitting Buddha. The caves were established by a Buddhist priest from China and they can be reached by a demanding climb of some 385 steps into the cave mouth where the main altar is located. 

One intricate system of limestone caves stretching for some 1.9 kilometres is Gua Tempurong, located just off the old main highway at Gopeng about 25 kilometres south of Ipoh; it has become a popular destination for both local and foreign tourists and is said to be the largest limestone cave complex in Peninsular Malaysia. Recent improvements made by the private company which runs this popular tourist attraction are the installation of well lit stairways, boardwalks and platforms, and strategic lighting which enable visitors to penetrate further into the caves. However, facilities are still relatively limited, tour guides are needed, and walks through the caves can be physically demanding.  The Tempurong Massif contains dramatic rock formations, and clusters of stalactites and stalagmites, which are often the subject of local folk stories and beliefs;  water flows through part of the cave system, which is also home to colonies of bats. These caves were ideal hiding places for Communist guerrillas during the Malayan Emergency (see below). The Tempurong complex comprises five huge caverns which resemble coconut shells in shape (hence the local name 'tempurong'). 
In western Perak there is an extensive coastal alluvial plain which is narrower in the north and over 40 kilometres wide in the south where the Perak and Bernam rivers reach the sea. Parts of the coastal plain comprise large expanses of peat swamp and mangrove forest, and there are several important forest reserves in the region of Selinsang and southwards through Sungai Limau and Terung to Segari. In the north-west region of Perak south of Penang there is also the Matang Forest Reserve, comprising over 40,000 hectares of lowland mangrove forest, which was established as a Forest reserve as long ago as 1902. It also contains the Kuala Gula Bird Sanctuary. The fertile coastal belt also provides over half of Perak's agricultural land which in turn comprises overall about 20 per cent of the area of the state. It is here that the main irrigated rice-growing areas are located especially Kerian in the north, as well as coconut estates and market gardens.  In the lower Bernam and Perak valleys there are extensive areas of oil palm and rubber. Stretches of sandy beach are to be found, particularly in the south around Lumut, and on the popular holiday island of Pangkor, a short ferry trip from Lumut. 

The visitor to Perak cannot fail to notice the signs of its mining past. The Kinta Valley around Ipoh was once a vast tin-mine, the result is awe-inspiring scenery carved out of the landscape by open-cast mining, which was a highly environmentally destructive industry.  Lakes, some of them large and impressive and of great depth, have formed in old mines, and grassland, scrub and low trees have colonised much of the remaining area.  However,  around such places as  Tronoh where there was intensive mining activity and the site of a vast open-cast mine which covered some 1710 hectares of land, there is a treeless, dune-like  moonscape, with stretches of white-greyish sands comprising the piled-up debris and tailings of old tin-mines. These vistas of a disturbed, scarred and reconstructed topography bear witness to Perak's history, to what was once an exploitative, competitive industry in which large fortunes were won and lost, and to the region's integration into the industrialised world as a supplier of essential primary resources. Mining was still relatively important up to the 1960s and 1970s, and in the mid-1960s Perak provided nearly 40,000 tons of Malaysia's overall annual production of 70,000 tons from about 700 mines. 

It was in the mid-1980s that the crisis struck. On 24 October 1985 the world tin market collapsed and trading was suspended.  The buffer stock manager withdrew buying support in the London Metal Exchange and the International Tin Council came to an end.  When trading resumed on 3 February 1986 the tin price had not recovered and by 1987 90 per cent of Malaysia's tin mines had closed.  Now Malaysia produces only some 5,000 tons of tin which is a mere five per cent of China's production, the world's leading producer. The effect on Perak and the Kinta Valley is plain to see.  Former tin-mining areas now lie abandoned and forgotten as the interests and focus of the world market have shifted to other locations, though there has also been considerable recent rehabilitation of land for housing, retail, industrial and recreational development. Nevertheless, what were once bustling, booming tin-mining settlements and service centres such as Papan and Tronoh are now rather quiet backwaters, with some empty and decaying shop-houses. 

The evidence of the importance of Perak's tin-mining past and the rich historical legacy which it has bequeathed the Kinta Valley in particular can be found in two of Ipoh's museums. The Geological Museum, located on Jalan Sultan Azlan Shah, was opened in 1957 as part of the administrative headquarters of the Geological Survey Department (see Geological Museum). After a brief period in Kuala Lumpur from its foundation in 1903, the  head office of  the Geological Survey was moved to Batu Gajah in Perak in 1908 and then to  the new buildings in Ipoh in 1957.  Subsequently it was relocated to Kuala Lumpur in 1973, but the splendid museum, the only one of its kind in Malaysia, remains in Ipoh. The Darul Ridzuan Museum, which appropriately occupies the former family mansion of a Chinese tin-mining entrepreneur and is located on Jalan Panglima Bukit Gantang, houses, among other things, fascinating photographic displays of the region's tin-mining past and old images of Ipoh which was built on the revenue generated by tin-mining (see Darul Ridzuan Museum). 

Ipoh.  Its   Malay Roots 

The precise origins of Ipoh remain obscure, though we know that it began to develop rapidly as a supply and service centre for the tin-mining industry between 1884 and 1893. Prior to these developments it may have been the site of an aboriginal (Orang Asli) settlement and in 1882 it still had the status of a village.  It is said in Malay oral history that the local chiefs in the Kinta district traced their descent from a Sumatran sea-captain who, with his followers, journeyed across the Straits of Malacca and travelled up the Kinta River to the furthest navigable point for sea-going vessels at Gunong Cherah. There the captain encountered a spirit or genie called Kulop Kinta who inhabited the nearby hill and who advised the captain to take the name 'Lord of Kinta' (Dato Panglima Kinta) after the name of the river.  The origin of the name 'Kinta' is uncertain but is thought to be derived from a local aboriginal word - gentah - which refers to rounded objects and therefore possibly to 'the river with boulders'.  Another legend suggests that the Lords of Kinta derive their lineage from the union between the Perak Sultan and a local aboriginal woman.  The district chief of Kinta became one of the eight senior officers under the Sultan of Perak, and in the 1870s, just prior to the development of Ipoh as a centre of tin-mining, his capital was said to be located somewhere between Menglembu and Kuala Pari on the Kinta Rive in the vicinity of present-day Ipoh.  The post of Dato Panglima Kinta still survives, and it continues as both a ceremonial and symbolic office, as well as a politico-administrative position with the office-holder also occupying a seat on the Perak Executive Council.

The Sultan was the supreme authority in Perak and symbolised the unity of the state. The royal family traced their descent directly from the Sultans of Malacca, and it is claimed that the first Sultan of Perak, Muzaffar Shah I, born in about 1505CE, was a son of Sultan Mahmud I of Malacca, and had moved from his home in Johor (Johore) to Perak.  Perak also had a close association with the sultanate of Aceh and was its vassal during the sixteenth century.  Given the scattered population of Perak, the difficult terrain, remote hinterland, and the hostile tropical rainforest environment, the sultanate was relatively decentralised in administrative and political terms.  In other words, the Sultan did not possess total power. He devolved much of the day-to-day administrative responsibilities and the task of revenue collection to his district or territorial chiefs.  The chiefs, including Dato Panglima Kinta therefore had considerable discretion to raise revenue on trade goods, crops and mining land, and to try legal cases and impose fines.  However, the chief had to deliver part of the revenue to the Sultan.  
It should be emphasised that Malay chiefs fully realised the financial benefits of supporting tin production, and though there was some local Malay mining, and Sumatran Mandailing and other immigrant Malay labour was also recruited to help mine tin, increasingly from the mid-nineteenth century the chiefs encouraged both the migration of Chinese miners to their districts and the development of more efficient and productive Chinese mining methods. Indeed, Chinese involvement in the mining industry goes back to the mid-1770s when Sultan Alauddin (1773-92), who was supplying tin to the Dutch under the terms of a treaty with them which had been signed in 1746 and which gave the Dutch a monopoly of the tin trade there, gave permission for Chinese miners to move into Kinta and recruit labourers from Malacca.  Chiefly power and wealth were also based on the control of manpower and therefore it was in the interests of local leaders to retain and indeed increase the population in their district. Therefore, the colonial-sponsored Chinese migration and the British creation of an ethnically plural or multicultural society was but the later stage in the process by which astute members of the Malay elite began to exploit the opportunities provided by tin deposits on their lands by encouraging Chinese immigration.

The land on which Ipoh was founded was originally Malay village land, mainly under the control of Dato Panglima Kinta, though small communities of aboriginal hunting-gatherers were also to be found in the nearby forests with which the Malay overlords conducted trade, and, on occasion, intermarried. In what now comprises the central area of Ipoh originally there was an interconnected series of Malay river-side villages: particularly Paloh, Pisang, Kepayang, Jawa, Kuchai and Mesjid Lama. Supplies carried up the river by sampan had to be offloaded at Ipoh and one such landing point was on the east bank of the river at Kampong Paloh (Paluh) on the land of another of the local chiefs, the Dato Laxamana. It was said that Che Hussein of the Laxamana’s family had his stockade there, and from the mid-1870s a row of Malay dwellings of wood and thatch and a landing stage were erected there at the highest navigable point of the river.  Prior to the arrival of Chinese miners the local Malay and Orang Asli inhabitants exploited pockets of tin ore and washed or panned it in the nearby streams and river shallows.

'Paloh' refers to 'a pool of stagnant water' or ‘pools formed by fishing traps set by the villagers’, and it was the name given to the Malay settlement enclosed by a large bend of the Kinta River.  There were other Malay settlements just to the north at Kampong Jawa, where early Javanese migrants had settled, and Kampong Kuchai, to the south of New Town, where the Dato Panglima Kinta Mosque was built, the family mausoleum located and the Madrasah Kamaliah, a Malay girls’ school established.  Before the expansion of the urban area there were rice-fields here belonging to  the then tenth Dato Panglima Kinta Mohammed Yusoff (1884-1903),  but, as tin-mining began to expand in the Kinta Valley and Ipoh became an important service centre, the enterprising Dato Panglima  laid out the early town and sold off building lots to the Chinese. In 1894 the Dato Panglima also became one of the unofficial members of the newly established Ipoh Sanitary Board. 
The Malay roots of Ipoh can still be identified in the village place-names close by the Kinta River and, although most of these areas have been covered by subsequent urban development, there are still some tree- and grass-covered open areas, such as at Kampong Jawa, which sweep gracefully down to the river's edge.  The early history of Perak is also intertwined with the themes of Sumatran contacts and immigration and the interrelationships between the Malay populations and the local aboriginal communities which served, among other things to legitimise Malay rights over the land. The Malay contribution to the development of the state is seen not only in their early involvement in the tin-mining industry and the encouragement of Chinese miners to exploit this resource on their lands, but also their engagement as house-builders, carpenters, and boatmen  in the expansion of urban areas and communication systems. Senior Malay leaders, territorial chiefs, administrators and landowners also became very wealthy by selling, leasing or renting out their lands to the Chinese. These relationships provided a model for the later development of Malay-Chinese business partnerships. There was also considerable immigration to Perak of other Malay-speaking peoples from the Indonesian islands, especially Sumatra and Java, to take advantage of the opportunities in mining and agricultural development.

The heart of the old town is  bounded  by the two major roads in present-day  Ipoh which run parallel to each other and bridge the Kinta River - Jalan Sultan Idris Shah (formerly Brewster Road)  and Jalan Sultan Iskandar Shah  (formerly Hugh Low Road). It should be noted here that many English place names in Ipoh, taken from prominent colonial residents and officials, were replaced with the names of distinguished local Malay, Chinese and Indian inhabitants after independence 

The Name Ipoh

The present name 'Ipoh' was undoubtedly a later name given to the settlement, but there seems to be general agreement that ipoh, sometimes rendered as epu or epau in early English documents and in Malay as upas, referred to a species of tree (antiaris toxicaria) which yielded poisonous sap used to tip native blow-darts; or rather it referred to the vegetable poison which came from the tree. The poison was used by the local Orang Asli but it is known widely across the Malay-Indonesian world and especially in Borneo as a very effective dart-poison.  It is said that the tree grew prolifically in this area, and that there was an especially large ipoh tree near the present-day Jalan Raja Ekram (formerly Cowan Street) which was felled a long time ago. The tree can grow to over 30 metres high and one metre in diameter. A more modest example can now be found in the gardens in front of the main railway station which was planted in 1980 by the local Rotary Club, and another in the DR Seenivasagam Park in Ipoh.  Today the city of Ipoh is also promoted in the tourist literature as 'Bougainvillea City', and there is now a beautiful Bougainvillea Park on the edge of the central area near the recently built and impressive City Hall on Jalan Sultan Abdul Jalil. 
On an early map of the Kinta Valley the site of Ipoh is designated as Epau or Epu with another settlement close by indicated as Palau. There was also a reference to the settlement of Palau or Paloh being inhabited by both Malays and Orang Asli (Sakai) and early Cantonese arrivals in search of tin referred to what is now Ipoh as Pa-lo.
Tin-mining comes to Kinta

Following the Treaty of Pangkor of 1874 the British established an advisory system; the adviser, who was styled 'Resident', was assigned to work with the Sultan and his territorial chiefs to restore order and promote peaceful trade and commerce.  The residential system in the Malay states of Perak, Selangor, Negri Sembilan and  Pahang provided the framework within which the British increasingly took control of decision-making, administration and revenue collection on such items  as the export of tin, forest produce and increasingly rubber,  import duty on opium and spirits, and taxes and licences on gambling and pawn-broking. The tax on opium was a vitally important source of revenue and the British ‘farmed’ out the responsibility for collecting this tax along with that on gambling and liquor mainly to prominent Chinese merchants in Penang. The British also established their administrative centre in the Larut tin-fields at a place which the Assistant Resident, Captain Speedy, called Taiping (the Chinese for ‘Everlasting Peace’). 
The first British Resident, James Wheeler Woodford Birch, had been Colonial Secretary in the Straits Settlements. He had very little knowledge of Malay social institutions and customs, and he   very quickly antagonised the native chiefs, especially the Mantri of Larut, Ngai Ibrahim, who had most to lose from the British regulation of tin and other revenue.  Birch also set himself the task of eliminating debt slavery, again inviting local chiefly opposition because slaves were an important source of labour and wealth.  As we have seen the British also intervened in a succession dispute which invited the opposition of some powerful members of the Malay nobility and aristocracy.     

Within a very short period of time, Birch's rather insensitive handling of native affairs resulted in the Perak chiefs sinking their differences and deciding that Birch must be resisted at all costs.  It went further than this when Birch was murdered on 2 November 1875 at Pasir Salak on the Perak River, the village of the Maharaja Lela.  The British sent a large task force into Perak supported by naval vessels. Though this engagement was referred to as ‘The Perak War’ it was really only a series of minor encounters and skirmishes.  The British pursued those whom they suspected of being involved in the assassination. Eventually in July 1876 the Maharaja Lela Dato Sagar and his father-in-law, Pandak Indut, who would not accept the provisions of the Pangkor Treaty, and who were directly responsible for the murder, were captured, tried in Larut and executed. Sultan Abdullah and some of his immediate officers who were suspected of giving support to the assassination were exiled to the Seychelles. Ex-Sultan Ismail was banished to Johore where he remained until his death in 1880. Another earlier claimant to the throne, Raja Yusuf was appointed as Regent by the British in 1877 and was eventually installed as Sultan in 1887 to be followed on his death in the same year by his son-in-law Raja Idris. 

Following the unfortunate events of the mid-1870s the British proceeded more cautiously, introducing advisory Councils of State to include influential Malay and Chinese leaders, and they appointed British officials with knowledge of the Malay language and culture.   In Perak Sir Hugh Low became the third Resident in 1877, after the brief tenure of the second Resident, JG Davidson.  Low had seen long service in Sarawak and had been Resident at Labuan. He spoke Malay fluently and had considerable knowledge of local conditions. He moved his administrative capital to Kuala Kangsar and established the Perak Council of State which included several members of the royal family, territorial chiefs and prominent Chinese mining entrepreneurs.   It was under Low that great progress was made in implementing a workable Residential system with local approval and support, although increasingly the British tightened their administrative and economic grip on the Malay States.  Low retired in 1889 and was succeeded by Frank Swettenham, who served until 1895 when he was followed interestingly by Ernest Woodford Birch, the eldest son of the tragic first Resident, JWW Birch.

In the Perak Annual Report for 1879 Hugh Low referred to Ipoh as 'the chief village in the district', but it was not until 1884 that the name crops up much more frequently in the literature. At that time it was still only a small settlement of about 200 inhabitants but the first ‘tin rush’ of 1884-89 led to a rapid increase in miners and the area mined. By 1890 Ipoh had become the largest town in the Kinta region, having overtaken the earlier established mining settlement of Gopeng to the south-east. Already in the early 1870s Chinese migrants had begun to settle in the tin-mining areas at Gopeng, Papan and in the vicinity of Kota Bharu, and by the early 1880s there were about 4,000 of them in the region. Some local Malays and Orang Asli were active in mining as well as migrant Sumatran Mandailings and Rawas, and they provided advice to the newly arrived Chinese miners on where the most lucrative tin deposits could be found. These local people had great knowledge of the distribution of tin-bearing ores and their different types and qualities. The Chinese then began to push into uninhabited or thinly inhabited jungle and swampland and clear and burn the vegetation for mining wherever tin-bearing materials eroded from upland slates and granites seemed to be accessible and worth commercial exploitation. Some forest materials were used to construct accommodation for the labourers and the various structures and equipment necessary for extraction of the tin.  Some timber was also used for charcoal manufacture for tin-smelting. A huge area would then be progressively excavated and the overburden carried away and stacked around the edges of the excavation to form barriers and containers to prevent floodwater entering the mine. 
In the early days Chinese mining was very labour intensive with a very modest capital outlay and the Chinese with their bases in the Straits Settlements had the advantage of an effective method of recruiting and organising indentured labour from China and securing capital through the networks of clan, dialect groups and secret societies. Mining towkays in the Malay States with business connections to the Straits Settlements had ready access to the resources needed to exploit the tin-fields. Simple agricultural tools such as hoes, rakes and wicker baskets were used to excavate and transport materials, and converted rice-pounders were used as treadmill stamps to crush tin-bearing materials.

The miners also needed a source of water and therefore they began to alter water-courses in order to channel water to the mine both to wash the materials to separate the tin from the gravels and clays in sluice boxes and to turn water-wheels for driving a wooden chain-pump; the Chinese also used pedal power to drive pumps where there was no serviceable water flow. They had the advantage of being able to adapt their knowledge of the technology of water control and power in rice agriculture in southern China to the exploitation of the tin fields.  They did, however, increasingly turn to the more efficient and effective steam pump engines during the 1880s.

At first the Chinese miners kept close to the river and then pushed inland from the main landing stages constructing a network of rudimentary cart roads; the first cart road in the Kinta Valley ran from Kota Bharu to Gopeng. Up until 1890 Gopeng was the most important mining centre in Kinta with five large mines worked by about 1,000 men.  Elephants and bullock-carts were used as the main means of transport to carry the tin ore to the nearest convenient river route and by the 1880s cart-roads and bridle paths were providing an increasingly serviceable system to connect supply, production and distribution points. In 1891 the very important cart road from Ipoh to Batu Gajah was opened to traffic and this provided a continuous means of communication between Taiping and Batu Gajah. In the 1890s, and particularly during the second ‘tin rush’ of 1889 to 1895, there was a spate of cart-road building to connect all the main mining centres together and to focus them on Ipoh. 

In these pioneer days access to the Kinta tin deposits was very problematical.  The journey from the coast up the Perak and Kinta Rivers to the Ipoh region took more than one week, and tin shipments were taken downriver in long, flat-bottomed sampans.  Up to the 1880s the main focus of Chinese tin-miners was the more easily accessible Larut fields around Taiping to the west, which had begun to be exploited from the 1840s, mainly supported by Chinese and British capital from the Straits Settlements.  Therefore, economic development in the Kinta Valley was initially rather slow.  By the 1870s there were about 40,000 Chinese miners in the Larut region. However, once the British had begun to develop an administrative and communication infrastructure in the tin-field areas and to connect Taiping with Ipoh and Batu Gajah, Chinese immigration to the Kinta fields became a flood. The two major dialect groups in Chinese society in Kinta were the Cantonese, who came primarily as tin-mining labourers, but were also shopkeepers and artisans, and the Hakka who comprised mining entrepreneurs and labourers as well as farmers. In the early years the Chinese dominated the industry in Kinta and raised capital locally to develop the industry, though it was the French Tin Mining Company in Lahat, later to become the Société des Etains de Kinta, founded by J Errington de la Croix, which did more than any other to pioneer European enterprise there. It was also the first to import Indian Tamil labour. It was not until the early 1890s that a British company, the Gopeng Tin Mining Company, set up operations in Kinta and began to extract tin by hydraulic sluicing, avoiding the recruitment of Chinese labour, which was mainly controlled by Chinese entrepreneurs, and using Malay and Tamil labour instead.

A priority for the British was to improve the means of transport in order to link the tin-fields together and to get supplies and labour in and tin exports out. The expansion of tin-mining around Ipoh was also encouraged by the gradual exhaustion of some of the Larut-Matang fields so that by 1890 the Kinta Valley had overtaken Larut to become the main tin-producing region within Perak and also within the whole of the Malayan Peninsula. 

In the early days of mining in Kinta, and given its location further downstream from Ipoh and its proximity to the newly opened tin-mines in the 1880s, Batu Gajah was chosen by the British as its administrative centre and a District Magistrate was located there in 1884. In due course it was also provided with a jail, hospital, European club, race course and railway station. The first Magistrate's headquarters had been at Kota Bharu from 1879, with police stations at Gopeng and Ipoh established in the same year, and one at Papan opened in 1884.  It was also in 1884 that Frank Swettenham, the then Acting Resident in Hugh Low’s absence, directed the commencement of the construction of a north-south road through the tin-fields, a cart-road across the Kledang Range linking Larut with the Kinta Valley opened by 1886, and an extension to the telegraph system and postal service from Larut to Batu Gajah. By 1890 with a robust bridge built across the Kinta River at Ipoh and the completion of the metalling of the cart-road from Ipoh to Batu Gajah travellers could drive from Taiping through to Batu Gajah on good standard roads. From a population of about 5,600 in 1879, comprising about 4,600 Malays and 1,000 Chinese, the Kinta Valley received increasing numbers of migrants and by 1889 the population had reached nearly 60,000 with about 48,000 Chinese and just over 10,000 Malays. There were just under 70 Europeans and some 850 others, many of them from the Indian subcontinent.
 From 1890 to 1914 with the expansion of the Kinta fields in the vicinity of Ipoh, including Tronoh and Tambun where there were very large mines, the Malayan tin-mining industry more than doubled its output from 20,000 to 50,000 tons per annum. Gopeng, as the most important mining town in Kinta up to 1890 with five large mines and over 1,000 workers, was then eclipsed by Ipoh. A significant event was the meeting at Batu Gajah of the principal European miners and officials on 15 February 1894 to formulate the Mining Code of 1895 which would give the colonial government substantial powers to control and regulate the mining industry and indirectly to enable European interest to expand. It was also designed to reduce profligate mining practices and the amount of abandoned mining land. This period then saw the increasing dominance of European technology, capital and enterprise in the industry and the decreasing importance of smaller scale Chinese open-cast mining. The trend was to accelerate with the introduction of more expensive technology including dredges, hauling engines, mechanical puddlers, jiggers and trommels and crushing mills. Centrifugal gravel pumps, used in Western mines, were introduced into Kinta in 1906.  Aside from the pioneering French Tin Mining Company in Lahat, as we have seen the first successful British attempt to break into the industry and compete with the Chinese was the Gopeng Tin Mining Company which became operational in 1893. 

Indeed before the First World War, the British controlled only a quarter of the tin production. But with the introduction of the bucket dredging machine from 1913 by the Malayan Tin Dredging Ltd, British production began to mount sharply until 1929 when it was more than half of the total. The Company started dredging in a 1,000 acre tin-field north of Batu Gajah and by 1924 had become the largest tin-dredging company in the world. By 1931 British production had risen to 65% of the total. Dredging was ideally suited to low-lying areas with alluvial tin deposits, and to mining deposits found near the surface in areas prone to flooding; it increasingly put the small Chinese mining interests out of business and with its voracious demands for land edged out agriculturalists as well.  
A dredge is in effect a large, enclosed platform that floats on an artificial lake. Ultimately the hand-worked open-cast method in Chinese mines was unable to compete with the capital-intensive British dredging companies with their access to foreign capital and the support of government policies to enable acquisition of large mining concessions with good water supplies. Under the spur of competition the Chinese made considerable advances in mechanising their mines, but they lacked the capital for the installation of dredges. From 1928 to 1933, with mechanisation, the labour force engaged in tin-mining was cut from 119,550 to 51,980. This decline was due mainly to the introduction of dredges. However, the labour force recovered to 64,183 in 1934, but it never attained its former numbers, and it signalled the movement of miners into other occupations. Despite the introduction of dredging technology, other methods continued to be used in extracting tin ore. Gravel pumping remained one of the other most common methods of extracting alluvial tin deposits in the Kinta Valley. This involved spraying high-pressure jets of water on rocks containing tin ore and breaking them up. The tin-bearing material was then washed down a depression called a sump. A pump brought the material up a palong, a gently sloping wooden structure, which separated tin from other materials. As the tin-bearing materials flowed down the palong, wooden bars across the palong, called riffles, trapped the heavier tin ore, leaving the rest of the material to be dumped as tailings.  Labour intensive manual dulang washing or panning also continued in small, usually family-based mines; it also involved female labour. This was a simple method of extracting alluvial tin in streams by panning. A dulang is a wooden pan of about 50 centimetres in diameter which was used to scoop up the tin-bearing material; it was then twirled just below water level. The lighter sand particles were washed over the edge of the dulang while tin ore remained at the bottom. The dulang washers normally sold their products to the larger mines
Ipoh Expands

The old town of Ipoh began to be laid out by the Dato Panglima Kinta in 1886; it was Muhammad Yusuff, who had succeeded to the office in 1884 following the death of his uncle, Zainal Abidin, the ninth Dato Panglima, who owned a considerable amount of land on the west bank of the Kinta and in Kampong Paloh and who promoted the development of Ipoh by dividing the land into lots and selling them off to the Chinese. A government rest-house was built there in 1886.  The courthouse was constructed in 1888, as well as the first wooden bridge, the Hugh Low Bridge, over the Kinta River in 1890 on the site of the present Jalan Sultan Iskandar Shah Bridge. In 1888 there were 227 houses.  In 1889 came the hospital and then in the following year several government offices, currently the site of the Police Complex and the State Mosque in the area around the present railway station and Jalan Panglima Bukit Gantang Wahab (formerly Club Road). In 1891 a Chinese theatre was built in wood by Yau Tet Shin, a mining towkay, at Leech Street, and in the same year a market was constructed near the river. The theatre proved a major attraction and was the focus of an entertainment district which comprised gaming houses, brothels, opium dens, liquor shops and pawn-brokers.
A development of singular importance for the tin industry was the establishment in Ipoh in 1890 of the Straits Trading Company (STC) by a German entrepreneur, Hermann Muhlinghaus. Muhlinghaus had established the Company in 1886 with a Glaswegian, James Sword, and they started operating a smelting works in Telok Anson. The STC also set up offices in other neighbouring tin-mining centres including Gopeng, Batu Gajah, Pusing, Tekka, Kampar and Lahat.  Muhlinghaus based his business on buying raw tin ore for cash from the miners which replaced the system whereby dealers in Penang advanced finance to miners to pay their workers and smelt the ore in return for later payment in consignments of smelted ore. A significant coup for the company was when the tin-mining and revenue-farming towkay, Eu Tong Sen, who had subsequently diversified into medical shops, moved out of tin-smelting and placed his smelting business with STC.  He usually operated through tin-purchasing agencies such as Aylesbury and Garland. Muhlinghaus's arrangement provided the miners with ready cash, eliminated the expense of smelting the ore and transporting it, and freed them from their dependence on Penang creditors. The net result was an increase in mining activity, also encouraged by the discovery of very rich deposits just outside Ipoh at Tambun and between Lahat and Menglembu, and the more efficient use of water for the hydraulic methods of mining.  There was a big boom in tin production from 1889 to 1895, and from the 1890s more British miners came to the Kinta Valley, many of them trained in the Cornish tin-mining industry. Furthermore, in 1899 the headquarters of the new Kinta Miners and Planters Association was founded.

Ipoh from the Fire to the First World War

In 1891 Ipoh town had a population of about 4,000, although a fire on 1 June 1892 destroyed about half of the dwellings of wood and attap, comprising just over 120 units. Rebuilding then commenced on a major scale.  The grid-iron pattern of the present  Old Town centre dates from 1892 when the opportunity was taken  by WJP Hume, the Collector of Land Revenue, to realign, straighten and widen the streets and metal them, redraw and allocate the property lots, build brick drains, plant shade trees, introduce and then develop street lighting, and construct many more houses in brick. By the following year the population had more than doubled and had reached about 11,000.  In 1893 a Sanitary Board was established by the then British Resident Frank Swettenham, following his inspection visit to Ipoh in the February. The Board served as a de facto Town Council responsible for urban-planning and development, public hygiene, law and order and the licensing of businesses. This was replaced in 1897 by a Board responsible for all townships in the Kinta region, though between 1905 and 1915 responsibilities were divided between a Northern Board based in Ipoh and a Southern Board in Batu Gajah. In 1916 these were merged with the Board’s headquarters in Ipoh.  Among other things the Sanitary Board assumed responsibility for the Fire Brigade, which came to be housed in a fine Central Fire Station on Brewster Road in 1913. Fire was a common hazard when urban areas comprised numerous wood and thatch properties, and fire brigades had been established by the 1890s in most of the major settlements in the Kinta Valley. Ipoh’s status as a colonial administrative centre was also enhanced during the 1890s, particularly with the relocation of the district police headquarters there from Batu Gajah in 1894 and the transfer of the Chinese Protectorate headquarters from Taiping to Ipoh.
What was to provide a major impetus for urban growth was the development of the railway using Chinese and later Indian labourers.  The construction of the first stretch of railway line in the Malay States of about 13 kilometres began in 1884.  It ran between the coast at Port Weld (now Kuala Sepetang) and Taiping to transport tin ores from the Larut region and import supplies for the industry.  The line was officially opened in 1885. Ten years later Ipoh was connected all the way to the other main port further south at Teluk Anson, and some eight years later there was a continuous connection between Penang to the north through Ipoh to Kuala Lumpur and beyond. A branch line from Ipoh to Tronoh was opened in 1908; this was a vital development which connected the major mining centres of Menglembu, Lahat, Papan, Pusing and Siputeh. Similarly road communications were improved with the completion by the turn of the century of the north-south trunk road connecting Ipoh to Kuala Lumpur, and a telephone exchange was opened in 1902. Ipoh therefore became an important focus of Perak’s communication infrastructure and a vital meeting point of river, rail and road.
The two decades from 1895 to the First World War saw unprecedented growth and prosperity in Ipoh and the rapid expansion of businesses and dwellings into the surrounding rice lands, gardens and forest. The town grew further in size to become the largest in Perak and the second largest in the Federated Malay States behind Kuala Lumpur. Kuala Lumpur's importance was enhanced when the four Malay States were brought into a federation and it became the seat of the Resident-General. Most of the streets in Ipoh which we can walk along today were already established in 1895. We have already mentioned the main thoroughfares of Hugh Low Street and Brewster Street along with Club Road. Others comprised Hale Street (Jalan Tun Sambanthan), Station Road (Jalan Dato Maharaja Lela), Belfield Street (Jalan Sultan Yussuf), Leech Street (Jalan Bandar Timah), Treacher Street (Jalan Bijih Timah), Panglima Street (Jalan Panglima), Market Street (Jalan Pasar), Hill Street (Jalan Koo Chong Kong), Patrick Street (Persiaran Bijih Timah) and Lahat Road (Jalan Lahat). 

Most importantly the open green space (padang) in front of the Perak Clubhouse was created in 1898 to commemorate Queen Victoria's Diamond Jubilee in 1897. The Chinese community raised $43,000 to purchase the state land necessary for the padang. It was the focus of hockey, cricket, football and rugby matches and special ceremonial events and processions. By the late 1890s there was an established European quarter in this central area with a courthouse, municipal offices, and a post and telegraph office. In 1904 the race course was opened, although there were already courses at Gopeng and Batu Gajah, and the People's Park was gazetted in 1909 near the centre of town on the east bank of the river.
From the end of the nineteenth century up to the end of the First World War a number of prominent public and private buildings were erected in the Old Town, many of which remain to this day. There was a flourish of building from 1906 to 1909 which continued to the First World War. The  Dato Panglima Kinta Mosque (1898), The Chartered Bank (1902), FMS Bar and Restaurant (1906), Eu Tong Sen Building (1907), Chung Thye Pin Building (1907), Straits Trading Building (1907), Town Padang Indian Mosque (1908), Birch Memorial (1909), Anderson Primary School (1909),  Police Station (1911), Church of St John's the Divine (1912), Kampong Paloh Mosque (1912), the Anglo-Chinese School Building (1912) which replaced the timber structure of 1898, The Town Hall and Post Office (1913-16) now the City Hall, and the Railway Station and Hotel (1914-17). An important landmark at the corner of what was Brewster Road overlooking the padang is the FMS Bar and Restaurant. It was established by a Hainanese immigrant and still retains its characteristic swing doors and L-shaped bar area.  The seven-bedroom first-floor hotel above the bar has been closed.

One significant architectural achievement for the town of Ipoh was that of EW Birch, the son of JWW Birch, when he was Acting Resident. He secured the agreement of the Perak State Council on the twentieth anniversary of the death of his father, to erect a memorial to him in the form of a clock tower which was completed in 1909. This was set into motion when Birch became Resident. In due course a marble fountain was also erected to the memory of Birch the younger at the southern end of Belfield Street in front of attractive old shop-houses and the two gracious Birch Memorials can still be seen in their original locations. Belfield Street was the early focus of Indian settlement and is still an important area for Indian shops selling gold, jewellery, textiles, spices and food, and other businesses such as restaurants.  It is known as ‘Little India’.
Some of the most notable buildings in central Ipoh were commissioned and sponsored by the local authorities, but increasingly European-owned commercial organisations began to establish their operations in Ipoh and over time had their own buildings erected or rented from others. Following the Straits Trading Company, the Chartered Bank, already established in Taiping, opened a branch in Ipoh in 1902. The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation came in 1910 and various agencies involved in tin, rubber and commerce including Aylesbury and Garland from 1895 and Messrs Nutter and Pearse in 1903 which eventually merged to form Aylesbury and Nutter as purchasers of tin ore and owners of rubber estates. There were also wealthy Chinese entrepreneurs, usually with interests and family connections in Penang, Taiping and Kuala Lumpur as well, who promoted building development for their businesses.  In these early days, Chung Thye Pin, a tin-mine owner, who mainly worked mines in the Tronoh area, and Eu Tong Sen, who had mines in Kampar, Gopeng, Tronoh, Chenderang and Papan, were among the most prominent in the Chinese business community.  They also built large mansions for themselves in and around Ipoh. Ipoh therefore increasingly became the main commercial, entertainment and residential centre of the Kinta Valley. 

Although it had been of considerable importance to the town, both for transport and water supplies, the Kinta River caused major problems of flooding and these were exacerbated by siltation and the effects of mining operations.  There was therefore a continuous programme of flood protection implemented from 1914 to 1941 as part of the Ipoh Flood Mitigation Scheme, including the straightening of the river where it flowed through the heart of the town and the construction of canals and embankments. Nevertheless, there were still serious floods in the interwar years, including one in 1920 when the Sultan declared a state of emergency. Down by the river side there were founded two important Chinese temples which are still there, one dedicated to the God of Prosperity (Tua Pek Kong) and the other to the Goddess of Mercy (Kuan Yin). There are numerous Chinese temples in both the Old and New Towns, the oldest being the Pa-lo ku-miao or Paloh Old Temple, founded in the 1870s and rebuilt in the 1890s facing Hugh Low Street.

Although Ipoh’s growing importance during the early years of the twentieth century was undeniable, the civic and commercial leaders of the town had to struggle to get the British High Commission in Singapore to give expression to that importance. Eventually, however, Ipoh was graced with a Railway Station and Hotel which befitted its status, as well as a Town Hall and Post Office, all of which, after some delay, were proudly in place and completed during the First World War. Arthur Benison Hubback, the public works architect who had designed the extravagant British Raj-style Railway Station in Kuala Lumpur, also designed in similar fashion and proportions and with appropriate grandeur, the Ipoh station and, just across the road, the Town Hall and Post Office. Hubback had worked in India and designed buildings in a Western eighteenth-century neo-classical style, embellished with Mogul or Moorish features, and with deep arcaded loggias on the ground floor, broad upper floor verandas, columns, pilasters, mouldings, domes, arches and high ceilings.
Education and Schools
Educational provision was formally established in Ipoh in the 1890s mainly through church and charitable organisations, including American Methodist missionaries, French Catholics, Chinese mining philanthropists, temple and district associations, mosque congregations and the Dato Panglima Kinta, as well as the state government.  To them we owe some of the architecturally most impressive buildings in Ipoh, and in many cases graceful brick buildings gradually replaced the original wooden ones. The first English-medium and mission school, the Anglo-Chinese Boys School on Lahat Road was founded in July 1895 by the Reverend WE Horley, an English Methodist ordained in Singapore, but who joined the American Methodist Episcopal Mission. In the mid-1890s there was no church or school in Ipoh and Horley set about addressing the awful and degrading environment generated in a primarily male mining community dedicated in their leisure time to gambling, opium dens, liquor shops and brothels.

Up to the time of the First World War most schools were comprehensive combining primary and secondary education. Then there was a more general process of dividing lower and upper schools; classes directed to the Cambridge curriculum and examination system became fully established by 1920 and the range of courses continued to be broadened with the addition of such subjects as languages, science and woodwork.   

The Anglo-Chinese School initially started with a handful of boys in 1895 and then provision was made for girls in the school compound the following year. In 1898 a timber school building was constructed on the Lahat Road to be replaced by a prominent brick building in 1912.  Eventually the girls' school moved to new premises on the Kampar Road in 1927 as the Anglo-Chinese Girls' School.  It has since been renamed the Methodist Girls' School.  A second English medium girls’ school was founded in 1907 when the Convent of the Holy Infant Jesus was opened in the compound of St Michael’s Church.  St Michael's Institution overlooking the padang was founded by the French La Salle brothers in 1912 and the present impressive neo-Gothic buildings began to be erected from the early 1920s. The first block was opened in 1927 and was progressively extended through to the 1950s. It was the preferred school for Europeans and Eurasians.

Anderson School was a government-sponsored English-medium school and was opened in 1909 at Douglas Road. It recruited its staff from the Victoria Institution in Kuala Lumpur and not from neighbouring Taiping or Kuala Kangsar. It then moved to its present site at Ashby Road in 1931. It was the preferred school for Muslims in Perak in that it was not sponsored by a Christian mission and in consequence it had a significant number of Malay and Indian students. Islamic education in the Malay medium was usually provided in schools attached to mosques such as the Dato Panglima Kinta Mosque founded in 1898. The religious school or madrasah at the Kinta mosque was the first Arabic and Islamic school in Ipoh.  On the other hand the Chinese also sponsored their own vernacular schools from the early twentieth century, and at a more modest level Indian schools in the Tamil medium were established on rubber estates and in Indian communities.  However, with the exception of a few well endowed Chinese schools, the standards in the vernacular schools were generally low and after the Japanese Occupation the colonial government, rather late in the day, began to address the very patchy provision of education through its introduction of a policy of universal free education, government-funded schools, equal treatment of boys and girls and the requirement that vernacular schools must teach English.. 
The New Town and Expansion in the Inter-war Years

The major development in Ipoh between 1905 and 1914 was the physical extension of the urban area due to overcrowding and rising rents in the Old Town and the continued risk of flooding from the Kinta River. As part of this process of expansion the passage across the Kinta River needed to be improved. The Hugh Low Bridge was widened and strengthened and a new bridge, Birch Bridge, joining Brewster Road was opened in 1907. The New Town began to be laid out across the two bridges on the east bank of the river, which until then comprised swampland, rubber gardens, and particularly the Dato Panglima Kinta’s rice fields. 
One of the central figures in this expansion was the Chinese entrepreneur Yau Tet Shin who was already a substantial property owner and had embarked on the construction of a further 350 dwellings with a theatre and a covered market in the New Town. The urban area extended along and at right angles to the two main thoroughfares, Hugh Low Street and Brewster Street, with streets wide enough for motorcars.  It is said that by about 1914 both the Old and the New Towns had begun to acquire the layout, character and appearance that Ipoh enjoys today, although after the independence of the Federation of Malaya from 1957 there was considerable suburbanisation, a much more rapid expansion of the urban area and new high-rise developments both in the built-up area and in green-field sites on the margins of the city.

By 1914 the town's population had reached 27,500.  There was a slowdown in building during the war years because of shortages of materials and the high costs of labour. These constraints delayed the completion of the Town Hall and Post Office and the Railway Station and Hotel. However, a further spate of building took place during the interwar years particularly after 1922 when tin prices picked up; some construction was undertaken in the Old Town, but most of it in the New Town, including the development of government quarters at Green Town. The latter took its name from CFJ Green, Chair of the Kinta Sanitary Board (1920-21) and an owner of mines and smelting works. From the early 1900s Gopeng Road also witnessed development, and became a high class residential area. Chinese tin-mining and real estate entrepreneurs were very active in this process of urban expansion, usually securing land from prominent local Malay leaders. Foo Nyit Tse developed a residential complex in Falim during the 1920s and built himself a mansion there; other prominent property developers were Leong Sin Nam and Lau Ek Ching.

Some of the architecture in the Old and New Town was based on neo-classical and neo-Renaissance designs, but increasingly Art Deco forms were used.  Prominent buildings erected at this time included the Courthouse (1928) now the Supreme Court Building, opposite the Railway Station, the neo-classical style of which was in keeping with the Town Hall and Post Office nearby,  the Chartered Bank (1924), Chung Thye Pin's house (1924), the Foo Choong Yit mansion (1926),  the Han Chin Pet Soo Building (1929),  the premises of the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation with its gracious classical pillars, corner tower and cool covered ground floor walkway (1931), the superb Art Deco Mercantile Bank (1931),  Anderson School (1931), the Overseas Chinese Banking Building (1932), the Perak River Hydro-Electric Building (1930s), and the Pakistani Mosque (1930s). 

In the New Town some fine Art Deco Buildings appeared in the 1930s, the Chua Cheng Bok Building,  Foong Seong Villa (1931),  the Lam Looking Bazaar  (1933), and the Perak Chinese Amateur Dramatic Association (1938). Art Deco which emerged in the late 1920s in America and Europe as a precursor to modernism, was a style characterised by simple ornamentation, clean rectilinear and geometrical lines, strongly outlined angular structures, plaster mouldings, and concrete canopies and banding.  In addition, the Central Fire Station was given a second storey in 1936 and a fine terrace of Chinese Association buildings was erected which housed the Perak Coffee Shopkeepers' Association, Kelab Chin Loo, which was a club for Hakka tin-mining towkays, the Kinta Small Traders' Association, the Perak Cooks' Association and the Perak Tzeng Clan Association. 

During this whole period the fortunes of Ipoh, including the construction industry, were tied to the vagaries of tin-mining and to a lesser extent the rubber industry. Tin production was hit by a slump after the First World War, with a fall in demand and over production. The market did not recover until 1922, but then production increased to a new high by 1928. The Depression took hold from 1929 getting progressively worse until 1933. Slumps were addressed in part by government-sponsored repatriation of some Chinese and Indian immigrant workers, and a Kinta Unemployment Committee was established in 1931 under the chairmanship of the Kinta District Officer. Despite these difficulties various welfare and infrastructural measures were introduced, including improvements in the town's water supplies taking them from the Kinta River north-east of Tambun, mosquito eradication programmes, improved rubbish disposal facilities, the development of electricity supplies with the construction of a power station at Lahat Road in 1926 and then the generation of hydro-electric power by the Perak River Hydro-Electric Power Company Limited with its dam at Chenderoh.  The Perak River Hydro then acquired a coal-fired station at Batu Gajah in 1933 and became the country’s largest supplier of electricity and remained so until 1955.
By 1929 Ipoh's population had reached 47,500 and by 1941 it was nearly 60,000.  From 1927 there had been discussions about transferring the Perak state capital from Taiping to Ipoh, given that it had become the administrative headquarters of the judge and court, the police and revenue, but the proposal was not implemented. The District Officer, hospital, Mine-warden and Forest Officer remained in the long-established administrative centre of Batu Gajah, and the Resident along with his administrative support and the military continued to be located in Taiping. Discussions were revived in 1937 which again came to nothing. Interestingly it was not the British, but the Japanese who confirmed Ipoh’s status as the premier town of Perak and established it as their administrative capital in early 1942. 
Although socio-economic development had been rapid, despite the booms and slumps occasioned by the world market in commodities, the urban landscape of Ipoh was largely planned and the town laid out in pleasing regularity and tidiness. Many of the commercial and residential areas in and around the New Town were set out in a grid-iron pattern, which owed much to the early establishment of a town planning body. Initially the Sanitary Board in 1914 set up a Committee which drew up an overall plan and divided the town into lots, zones and development areas, and then a Town Planning Department formulated a revised Town Plan which was introduced and approved in 1928; this was the earliest example of formal town planning in the Federated Malay States.

Ipoh and its Press

Ipoh also became a very important centre for newspapers and other publications. The press was a very volatile industry and a number of publications appeared and disappeared in a short space of time. However, early Malay language newspapers established in the first thirty years of an indigenous press were produced in Taiping, Kuala Kangsar and Batu Gajah. As far as we know the first paper to be published in Ipoh was the English language daily The Times of Malaya: Planters and Miners Gazette. It was established in 1903 by JI Philips to promote the mining, plantation and commercial interests of the Federated Malay States. In 1905 JAS Jennings took over as editor and Dr RM Connolly, a surgeon by training, then took charge of the newspaper.  He stayed for a few years but moved on to establish a rival newspaper in Leech Street which he called The Malay Daily Chronicle; it enjoyed modest success from August 1912 to June 1914. This daily newspaper was pro-British and served to spread information about the British in Perak, but because of its high price, not many people could afford to buy it. It was popular among the expatriate population.

 Eventually Jennings, who worked for The Times as editor for some thirty years, became sole owner of the holding company, Times of Malaya Press Ltd.  Jennings became a vigorous spokesperson for the development of Ipoh and for its designation as the capital of Perak.  Subsequently his press was to occupy fine premises on Brewster Road, but following his death in 1936 the paper declined and eventually in 1938 merged with the Straits Echo to become the Straits Echo and The Times of Malaya. 

The national newspaper The Malaya Tribune also eventually opened a branch in Ipoh at No 8 Brewster Road. It was first published on 1 March 1935 as a daily newspaper edited by E Maurice Glover. The Tribune had three offices, the Kuala Lumpur head office, and branches in Ipoh and Singapore. With its slogan; ‘Malaya’s First National Newspaper: Guaranteed Largest Sales’ on its cover page, the 3000-copy newspaper contained news items from every corner of Malaya, including pictorial illustrations. Two years later, the 27-year-old John Victor Morais, a Kerala-born Malayali Catholic was promoted to managing editor, becoming ‘the youngest Asian to hold such a position in Malaya’. A few years later, the Ipoh office moved to No. 21, Hale Street (now Jalan Tun Sambanthan). 

The Malaya Tribune Press (Perak Edition) temporarily ceased publication during the Japanese Occupation from 1942, and in December 1945 it continued its operation until March 1946. It again stopped publication for a year because of the Malayan Emergency. Starting from April onwards, the paper was successfully published until it officially ended its operation in December 1950. The Malaya Tribune comprised cover page international news and then local issues and current domestic affairs. There were also sports coverage and cartoons. Pictures of important events were printed on page twelve; these included press conferences, the opening of buildings, sports tournaments and music competitions. Music and entertainment columns followed.  The Tribune like other local papers contributed to the development of local awareness of politics and world affairs.

The 1930s were a particularly active time for newspaper publication. A small Malay press, Matba’ah Ar-Rahmaniah was established in Ipoh in 1930. It published among others Sinar Malaya edited by Ahmad Noor Abdul Shukor from its premises in Hugh Low Street; this was the first Malay paper in Perak published in Romanised Malay and not Jawi. Subsequently Ahmad Noor published Warta Perak from 1937, although its life was short. The most popular and well known Jawi publication, Warta Kinta appeared in December 1937 (see inset). 

The publication of newspapers contributed much to the birth and development of a significant body of Malay writers, many of them teachers, scholars and ulamas often writing in Jawi, including Mohammad Omar bin Haji Abu Bakar, Gulam Kadar, Haji Yang Hamzah, Raja Mansor, Abdul Rahman Abdul Rahim, Ahmad Noor Abdul Shukor, Ahmad Boestamam and Ibrahim Haji Yaacob. The press also made the citizens aware of what was happening locally and outside Perak. It contributed to the development of a national consciousness and political awareness; through letters it enabled the exchange of views and information. The articles were usually in story form and focused on such subjects as administration and government in the Malay states, particularly Perak, and the progress of British colonialism as well as accounts of the development of the Malay race and the character of customs and customary law among the ethnic groups of the Malay world. Readers also became aware of their own and other cultures. One newspaper which wrote about the history of other countries was Warta Kinta. It was one of the most popular newspapers in Perak between 1937 until 1941. 

In the first issue was an item on the founding of Australia. Then in the second and third issues there were stories about Javanese social status and the Javanese in Ceylon and in the fourth an essay on the history of Islam and the encounter between the West and the Arab world. All these were published in Warta Kinta’s Tawarikh column, which concentrated on local and foreign histories and on Islamic issues. It also contributed to local literature with a number of short essays and poems. 

Warta Kinta was a 24-page newspaper published by Persama Press, a Penang-based company; the first edition appeared on 24 December 1937. The printing works were at Batu 5, Jalan Datoh, a few blocks away from Kampung Paloh Mosque and a few metres from the Kinta River. It was built on Toh Puan Hajah Shariffah’s land in 1926. The building and another four shop-houses were later donated to Kampung Paloh Mosque, to support the mosque’s maintenance expenses through its rental payment.  Warta Kinta then moved to No. 29, Hale Street, a four-storey building. Currently the Perak Han Kang Kong Hoey Association for the Teochew community, led by Teoh Beng Suang, occupies it.

 Warta Kinta, being a weekly edition, was published on every Friday until 10 May 1938. After 17 issues, its publication was then stopped. From 25 September 1939 to December 1941, it was then published daily. From then on the number of pages was reduced from 24 to between 12 and 16, and the price was slashed to 4 cents only. The paper was financed by Raja Abdullah bin Raja Syed Salim, a wealthy entrepreneur who had founded the Malay Tin Mining Company Ltd. The editor and publisher of Warta Kinta, Raja Mansor bin Raja Abdul Kadir, who had been brought up in Langkat, north Sumatra, was married to Raja Abdullah’s niece. Raja Mansor was a prolific writer before World War II, publishing novels, short stories, poems, songs and a travelogue. Raja Mansor left the newspaper in May 1938 and after a short while it was taken over by Abdul Rahman bin Abdul Rahim, a Sumatran Mandailing who had been active in nationalist politics in Medan and had fled from the Dutch and taken refuge in Malaya.  He revived the newspaper in September 1939. It became the voice of the Malays in Perak. In November 1940 Abdul Rahman recruited Ahmad Noor bin Abdul Shukor. 
The newspaper was therefore very much dominated by Mandailings from Sumatra who were politically conscious, had been involved in political activities in the Dutch East Indies, and were concerned to raise awareness of political, cultural and historical issues among the indigenous communities. Ahmad Noor Abdul Shukor was the most well known Mandailing writer in the 1930s and 1940s. In Medan he was known as Halaloedin Hamzah, and worked as a free-lance correspondent. As a freelance writer he reported on workers issues in the newspapers Kompas, Pewarta Deli, Harian Chin Poh and a labour magazine, Buruh. After his involvement in a railway strike in 1929 and a Dutch crack down on the strikers, he fled to Malaya and changed his name to Ahmad Noor Abdul Shukor to avoid detection by Dutch intelligence agents. From 1931 to 1937 he earned his livelihood as a tailor and ran a shop in the Lam Looking Bazaar in Ipoh.  In 1937 he published Warta Perak jointly with Ahmad Boestamam and other journalists. Warta Perak shared an office with Yahya and Co., a bookshop at Hugh Low Street. He was also a correspondent for Warta Malaya, Saudara and Majlis. 

Ahmad Noor was imprisoned by the British as a Malay nationalist and released following the Japanese invasion. He became a Japanese translator during the war and interceded to save some people from Japanese atrocities. In October 1945, he was on the editorial board of Suara Rakyat. In 1946, he brought out Semboyan Baharu in Penang, the last newspaper published by him. Ahmad Noor used the pen name ‘Adnan al-Fikri’ for his novels and the pseudonym ‘Nina Susila’ for his short stories. In 1941, when he was the chief editor of Warta Kinta, he was arrested by the British on the eve of the Japanese invasion of Malaya and was interned in Changi Prison, Singapore. 

Ahmad Boestamam or Abdullah Thani bin Raja Kecil, another writer for Warta Kinta, once worked as a translator, translating Malay news into English. In 1939, after a few months out of work, he applied for a job at Warta Kinta. There he worked as an Assistant Director and a translator. He was also one of Raja Abdullah’s favourite Directors. Warta Kinta exposed him to the world of politics, and he acquired a name as a young Malay nationalist. He later became one of the great figures in the left-wing movement in Malaya. Ahmad Boestamam worked for Warta Kinta for only six months. He was fired because he revealed in print that Raja Abdullah was involved in a somewhat dubious enterprise to use people’s money to buy stocks in a non-existent company, the Malay Mining Syndicate Ltd. Ahmad Boestamam was then accepted to work back at Warta Kinta by Raja Abdullah’s successor.  He was also promoted to become the writer of an open column together with his friend, Abdul Rahman Abdul Rahim as Chief Editor. In the 1940s Ahmad Boestamam resigned and transferred to Singapore where he worked for Utusan Melayu.

Warta Kinta was in high demand during its heyday and soon became very popular among readers from the northern part of the Malayan Peninsula. Warta Kinta provided sufficient columns and variety for every subject of interest: religious matters, culture, literature, health and entertainment. Unfortunately during the uncertainty, instability and economic difficulties occasioned by the war demand for the paper decreased.  Its publication was finally stopped in December 1941.
There were also several other Malay language publications including Warta Kerajaan Perak, Panduan Teruna, Warta Perak and Berita Perak as well as a number of English language publications focused on expatriate or Malay communities and Chinese language newspapers. These had a small circulation unlike Warta Kinta, Times of Malaya and The Malay Daily Chronicle.  The early Malay language papers mainly comprised poetry, short stories, and essays. The later papers started the revolution of journalism in the Malayan archipelago. They contained hard-hitting facts against the British colonial experience and argued for more rights and freedom for the indigenous people. These papers served as catalysts in inspiring patriotic young people to become serious political thinkers. In that sense, they played an important role in enhancing nationalism. These other papers in Ipoh generally did not stay in circulation for long because of their high costs and also because the market for papers was relatively small.

Ipoh’s Hinterland

During the years of expansion of the mining industry Ipoh came to serve a very large hinterland and for those interested in the legacy of mining in the Kinta Valley then there is much to explore in the surrounding mining towns, most of which came into being in the late nineteenth century and then developed in the early twentieth century. Some of these have managed to adapt to the decline in the tin-mining industry and have transformed themselves into bustling market towns and service centres, particularly where government investment has been introduced, whilst others have languished and become mere shadows of their former selves, although this gives them a charm of their own. Of these settlements the most interesting and significant for the visitor must be Batu Gajah which in 1884 became the first administrative centre of the British based on its development in the 1880s as the main river port for the Papan mines. It therefore hosted a relatively large European community in its early days and boasts several fine colonial buildings. Two important figures in early colonial society there were William Kellie Smith (of Kellie’s Castle fame, see below) and Charles Alma Baker, whose imposing residence off the main road in Batu Gajah has sadly been recently demolished. Both were involved in the rubber estate industry and were pioneering entrepreneurs. 

Batu Gajah

JWW Birch, the first British Resident in Perak, stated in his diary that he had visited Batu Gajah on 30 April 1875 and described it as a large village beside the Kinta River. He says ‘At 4.15 we arrived at Batu Gaja on the left bank, a large and fine village where the soil is very good. There are about 30 or 40 houses, and a large smelting house’.

Even then Batu Gajah’s history was closely tied to the tin-mining industry and from 1881 it became the river port for the Papan tin-mines. In 1884 it was designated as the British administrative centre for the Kinta Valley and the British moved their magistrate’s office and court house from Kota Bharu to Batu Gajah. Other services were established there – a hospital, school, church, government offices including a land department, forestry, post and telegraph, Chinese affairs, the Kinta Sanitary Board, and a prison built in 1888 to accommodate 300 prisoners. The site of the town was landscaped and swamp land was reclaimed and drained. At the end of the nineteenth century Batu Gajah was the centre of European society in Kinta with a Gymkhana Club and spacious residences set on slightly higher and sloping land above the town. As well as government servants and public works people, there were Christian missionary personnel, miners and planters who were either resident there or who came for rest and recreation. The first Roman Catholic mission, St Joseph’s was established in Batu Gajah in 1882, and a brick church eventually built in 1928. An Anglican congregation was formed in 1885; Holy Trinity Church was completed and consecrated in 1895.  Eventually the turf club moved to Ipoh and the grounds were converted into a nine-hole golf course.

It is said that the name ‘Batu Gajah’ was taken from a nearby rock on the banks of the Kinta River that was carved in the shape of an elephant; another story suggested that elephants inhabiting the local forests had been turned to stone. The rock was used as a prayer place for Buddhists. This stone is addressed as the Toh Gaja, and everyone passing is supposed to pluck a handful of grass or leaves, and striking the Toh Gaja seven times on the breast with them, to ask him for fine weather for the journey.

As an administrative centre of Kinta, Batu Gajah saw the development of government offices from the 1880s which were completed in 1892 with stately pillars and classical columns and Moorish style arches. At that time Frank Swettenham was the Resident of Perak, assisted by Francis St G Caulfield, the State Engineer. The government office was divided into three double-storey blocks, one for the government offices proper, the central block for the courthouse and the third for the tax office and government finances. The three blocks were linked together by a rooftop corridor. The frames of both doors and windows were made from local timber and were grilled. The offices provided one of the settings for the 1999 movie ‘Anna and the King’. One room of this building was used as the princess’s bedroom.

In 1995 government administration was transferred to a new complex which has been constructed next to the old colonial building. Most of the old building is no longer in full use and serves as a store. Only the ground floor of two blocks is used for offices. This is because the structure of the building is unsafe and needs substantial repair work. No action has been taken by the government to renovate the building and maintain its historical value. However, the Perak State Government with the cooperation of the Perak Museum is planning to use the Batu Gajah Government Office as a museum of mining.
Aside from the Chinese community in Batu Gajah involved in mining and plantations, and as urban artisans in gold-, iron- and lock-smithing, and as cobblers, barbers and rattan-weavers, there were also communities of Indians in shop-keeping and money-lending, and with Ceylonese as contract labourers, dhobis, domestic servants, gardeners and government clerks. There was also a Malay and Sumatran community, some of whom were wealthy landowners, shop-keepers, miners and estate owners, while most were forest collectors, small-holding farmers, petty traders, low-level government officers, teachers and religious personnel. 

Tronoh

The origin of the name ‘Tronoh’ is uncertain. The Semais were the earliest settlers in Tronoh when it was still surrounded by forests; they were largely dependent on the forests for their livelihood and most of the trees that grew in the area were of a species which the Semai called ‘teronok’. During the mining era rapid development forced these people to move further into the forests and they were resettled in Kampung Serkai Jadi. Some Malays and Chinese intermarried with the Semais. 
In the early stages of Chinese settlement they relied on the local population to guide them to the rich tin deposits until they became increasingly knowledgeable of the area and could find the ores themselves. Local Malays were also involved in small scale mining and also assisted the Chinese in clearing areas for exploitation.

Tronoh was at the centre of an enormously rich tin-field and the main company involved in its exploitation was Tronoh Mines Ltd (TML), a Cornish company, which  was established on 3 December 1901 and took over 80 hectares of  mining land from Towkay Foo Choo Choon in June 1902. Foo Choo Choon had subleased land from several Chinese landowners in 1895. TML’s production never dropped below 10,000 piculs (595.3 tonnes) of ore per year. Its highest production was in 1911 when it reached 65,000 piculs (3,850 tonnes) of ores. By 1927 the Company had acquired about 2,000 hectares of land and extended its operations to Tanjung Rambutan, Kampar, Chemor, and further afield. 

TML began experimenting with dredging in December 1912 but it was unsuitable for Tronoh’s environment. Then the Company ordered a new dredge and started operating with it in early 1915. After that TML modified the first dredge and began to work it successfully in 1917. Then in October 1921 a third dredge commenced work. By 1935 TML was working the largest open-cast mine in the world. 

During 1908 and 1909 the British built a railway line from Ipoh to Tronoh. It was 24 kilometres long and passed through such mining settlements as Menglembu, Lahat, Papan, Pusing and Siputeh. A major factor that led to its construction was the demand from the Chinese tin-mine owners and TML to the British government for a means to transport their raw tin ores. Half of the cost of its construction came from the mine-owners in Tronoh. Hundreds of South Indian labourers were brought in to construct the railway. Other than tin ores it also transported timber, machinery, food supplies and people. 

During World War I the currency for the whole of Malaya was printed in London and shipped out. However, a year before the end of the war, a ship was destroyed by German U-Boats and with the approval of the British government in Malaya, Tronoh produced its own currency in 1917 entirely for local use. The currency comprised 10, 20 and 50 cents notes only. These were pieces of paper the front of which was signed by Leong Sin Nam, a millionaire mine-owner in Tronoh. They were printed in Leech Street, Ipoh. After the war ended in 1918 the shipping resumed and the currency was no longer valid.
Tronoh became a bustling mainly Chinese town with shop-houses. It was a market and service centre because most Chinese lived in accommodation near the tin-mines provided by their employers. Tronoh had jewellery shops, pawnshops, food and general stores and coffee shops and in the area there were gambling, opium and alcohol farms, and brothels. Schools were also established, a police station in 1906 and post office, as well as temples, churches and mosques. The first school was Tronoh Free School established in 1906 by Mr Chang Yin Fatt with instruction in English and according to Christian principles. It still survives and is now called Sekolah Kebangsaan Tronoh. Generally there were more Chinese schools than others in Tronoh due to the population. The first Chinese medium school built was Chung Sun Primary School in 1925. In 1945 Malay schools were also established. Malay education was free and compulsory. In 1947, the Tronoh Tamil School was established though Tamil education was mainly the responsibility of the large rubber estates. Before Tronoh had its own secondary school, students who wished to further their studies had to travel daily to Batu Gajah. Only in 1965 was Tronoh Secondary School established. The school had to share facilities with Chung Sun school for two years before their own buildings were completed 

Close by the town there were also productive forests yielding resins and timber and these began to be exploited by the British and Chinese from the 1930s and a profitable saw-milling industry emerged. Some timber was needed locally for house construction and the mining industry.

For Tronoh the Japanese Occupation was a disaster. All shops were closed, mining activities were very much reduced, destruction was widespread and virtually all economic activities were paralysed. Many Chinese fled and went into hiding. Tronoh railway was also doomed. Bit by bit the 24 kilometre-long track was taken up to construct the Burma-Siam Railway as there was no time to forge new tracks. About 500 people, mainly Chinese were also taken as labourers to Thailand for the railway construction. By the end of the war only 50 had returned. The Japanese turned some schools into barracks and the police station became their headquarters, impromptu courthouse and execution site. Japanese schools replaced some of the existing schools where students were required to learn the Japanese language.

After the Japanese surrender Tronoh faced another critical problem. The Malayan Emergency resulted in severe disruption caused by the Communist guerrillas and their attacks on mines and plantations and those who worked there. Tronoh town also suffered curfews and was declared a ‘Black Area’. There were food shortages and some communities, especially those living on the outskirts of the town, had to be relocated. 

The decline in the tin-mining industry resulted in the smaller mines in the Tronoh area closing first and then in 1968 permission was granted for Tronoh Mines to stop mining there and the company shifted its dredges to Air Kuning while the head office moved to Kuala Lumpur. It was a great loss for Tronoh and as money and jobs were scarce during the economic recession in Malaysia in 1969 many shops and other businesses were closed and people migrated. After 1970 only three mines were operating but were not as profitable because the price of tin at that period was low and began a downward slide in the early 1980s. After 1985 British mining companies left Tronoh and Malaysia and headed to Peru and Brazil for cheaper and abundant land containing tin when the price of tin dipped further. 

Timber production also faced the same problem. By the late 1970s there was hardly any forest left for logging and the remaining areas were put under reservation. Many people lost their jobs and had to find other work elsewhere. Up until the 1908s Tronoh was almost a dead town but in 1990 Universiti Sains Malaysia opened its branch campus nearby.  This was subsequently taken over and expanded by Universiti Teknologi Petronas and Universiti Teknologi MARA has also recently established a campus there.

Other interesting settlements which are certainly worth visiting comprise Chemor, Gopeng, Kampar, Kota Bharu and Malim Nawar, Kuala Dipang and Sungei Siput, Lahat and Pengkalan Pegoh, Menglembu, Papan, Pusing and Siputeh, Sungei Raia and Kampong Kepayang, Tambun and Ampang, Tanjong Rambutan, and Tanjong Tualang. Many contain traditional shop-houses relatively unchanged since they were constructed in the mining booms of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century; Chinese temples (including Kampar Old Temple and Cemetery Association, the Ho Sin Ku Mi, Kam Sin Yeh Meow,  and Joss Tham Kung Ye in Kampar), and market places and some excellent Chinese restaurants in Kampar. Gopeng has some of the finest late nineteenth-century shop-houses in High Street and Eu Kong Street. Papan is a good example of an early Chinese mining town and service centre.

          Papan

Papan consists of about 80 pre-war shop lots with about 60 per cent of them in a dilapidated condition. It is located off the Ipoh-Batu Gajah road.  Its current population is about 1500 people, 98 per cent of whom are Chinese, and nine out of ten of these are Hokkien. The remaining two per cent comprises Malays and Indians. As mining declined many people moved away and young people continued to leave the town in search of employment elsewhere. There are few facilities and such services as medical care, education and leisure activities have to be found in Batu Gajah or Ipoh. Most residents are either retired, commute for work elsewhere, farm fruit and vegetables in market gardens or run small retail, catering and manufacturing businesses.

The settlement was originally founded by the Mandailing people about 140 years ago. They were mainly miners, traders and preachers. Around the same time, a prominent Mandailing leader, Raja Asal who came from the province of South Tapanuli came to Malaya through Malacca before residing in Selangor. The Sultan of Perak at the time, Sultan Idris later offered Raja Asal the post of leader in Tanjung Belanja. 

In 1870, Raja Asal passed away and was succeeded by his nephew Abdul Razak. Abdul Razak who changed his name to Raja Bilah was the man responsible for opening the town of Papan in 1847. When the supplies of tin started to dwindle in Changkat Piatu, Raja Bilah made a decision to move to a new place. One theory about the name given to the place was that it derived from the fact that there was an abundant amount of timber (papan) around the town during the mining boom which was needed in mining. The locals used the 'melampan' and 'mendulang' technique in searching for tin. The town's population increased rapidly from a mere four thousand occupants to a staggering 38,000 by 1882. The increase was mainly due to Chinese immigrants working for tin companies. 

By this time Papan had blossomed into a full-fledged mining town with its own police station and prison. Raja Bilah was also appointed as the Penghulu (village head) for the area of Papan, Pusing, Tronoh and Siputeh. His position allowed him to collect the mining taxes from these areas. As a result Raja Bilah could afford to build a large house for himself. The house called Rumah Besar or ‘Big House’ was built in 1896 at a cost of twenty thousand dollars. It was mainly used as a meeting hall for the village heads and formal gatherings. On Fridays the lower hall of the house was used as a dining hall for the local Muslim community after the weekly Friday prayer. Raja Bilah often offered free food to everybody who came to his house starting after the Friday prayer. Other functions of the house were as a small court to settle minor disputes among the residents of the surrounding areas. 

In Papan, the main mining companies were Wong Teck Long Mining Company founded by Wong Gui, Fuh Siong Mining Company established by Fuh Siong, and Wong Kah Lung Mining Company. Papan was still a busy mining town in the late 1960s. Nowadays, however, Papan has changed from a bustling town to a rather quiet backwater. Before this, there were many Malays living in Papan, but now only two Malay houses remain. Even though there are no more tin mines in Papan, there is a new brick manufacturing company which employs a significant amount of foreign labour.

The Japanese Occupation

Prior to the Japanese invasion there had been several Japanese residents in Ipoh. As long ago as 1893 there had been a Japanese pony bus service operating between Ipoh and Batu Gajah; Japanese brothels were certainly in evidence in the 1890s. In 1908 there was a Japanese-owned photographic shop at No. 95 Belfield Street, and it is said that a Japanese spy, who arrived in Malaya in 1916 worked there for a short while. In the 1920s several Japanese businesses were recorded: dentists, photographic studios, barbers, laundry shops and hotels. The Japanese were especially prominent in photo studios.
Ipoh was bombed by the Japanese on 15 December 1941 and again on 23 December, and two days before Christmas Day 1941 the first Japanese troops marched into the town and it was occupied on 28 December.  The military commandeered many of the important buildings in central Ipoh.  The Hong Kong and Shanghai Bank Building in Belfield Street was taken over temporarily as the headquarters of the military administration, and the larger school buildings were also used as bases; Anderson School served as the headquarters for the military intelligence agency and soldiers were also barracked at the Central Police Station. The Military Police or Kempeitai were housed at the Sun Cinema Hall near Brewster Bridge and the Anglo-Chinese Boys’ School and its headquarters in the Leong Sin Nam mansion on the Gopeng Road. Yau Tet Shin’s mansion was used as a Medical Centre for the Japanese.  The Convent of the Holy Infant Jesus was used for the Nippon-Go Teachers Training School and it became a centre for Japanese language and cultural studies; 125 orphans and babies, together with 25 Sisters were evacuated to Klang Convent while three Sisters, Theophane, Eva, and Mary Magdalene, were allowed to remain in the small block at the back of the Convent. Meanwhile the Anglo-Chinese Girls' School became a POW Camp. Subsequently from August 1942 St Michael's Institution became the seat of the Japanese Governor and the administrative headquarters (Perak Shu Seicho) for the whole state with offices for the Police and the Treasury and a chamber for the State Legislative Council. The building had been heavily machine-gunned during fighting and the Brothers’ quarters were rendered uninhabitable.  Some of the priests were allowed to remain in the church compound. Three sisters also remained at the Convent. The Ipoh Club was used as a laundry for Japanese officers living at nearby St Michael’s.
The Japanese army also used the High Court for legal proceedings conducted by army officers.  But the High Court was attended by Japanese judges and presided over by Judge Kuzaka San. He was noted for his impartiality and open-mindedness on the Bench. It was said that those qualities were largely attributed to his Western legal training. However, he could not always avoid the influence of the Japanese Public Prosecutor.  The Japanese also took over the Chinese Tin Miners’ Clubhouse, Han Chin Pet Soo, and destroyed most of its contents. 

These were difficult times for the town; looting took place and many of the Chinese residents left their properties and fled.  Business and commerce were disrupted, there were periodic food shortages and a black market flourished. One of the notable stories of wartime heroism was that of Mrs Sybil Kathigasu, a Eurasian midwife, who lived at her clinic at 144 Brewster Road with her husband, Dr AC Kathigasu. During the occupation they moved to Papan and set up a clinic there at 74 Main Road, though Dr Kathigasu subsequently re-opened the Ipoh clinic while his wife stayed on in Papan.  Sybil received the George Medal for her work on behalf of local anti-Japanese guerrilla forces and Force 136, providing them with medical treatment and supplies. Both husband and wife were detained by the Japanese from October 1943 to July 1945; they were accused of spying and were also tortured. Sybil Kathigasu recorded her experiences in her book, No Dram of Mercy, which was published posthumously in 1954. She was awarded the George Medal. Sadly she had died in London on 4 June 1949 while receiving medical treatment in Britain for her injuries after her release from the Japanese prison in Ipoh.  The shop-house which housed their clinic still stands on what is now Jalan Sultan Idris Shah.

Post-War Developments

Perak and Ipoh suffered further difficulties during the Malayan Emergency (1948-60) when members of the Chinese-dominated Malayan Peoples Anti-Japanese Army who had fought a guerrilla campaign against the Japanese and activists in the Malayan Communist Party then took to the jungle to fight a war of independence against the British. A major problem was that this was not a nationalist war fought on behalf of all the communities of Malaya; it was primarily an anti-colonial and anti-capitalist Chinese response. The Emergency was triggered by the murder of three European rubber planters by Communist guerrilla units in June 1948 near Sungai Siput, about 40 kilometres from Ipoh. Sungai Siput and the Upper Kinta Valley were particular targets and the suburbs of Ipoh. Attacks took place on plantations, mines, government offices, police stations and transport facilities. There were grenade attacks on buildings in Ipoh and surrounding towns. Unprotected British planters and miners in isolated parts of Perak were special targets for ambush and assassination. Curfews and food-rationing were introduced and scattered Chinese rural communities were brought together into fortified and guarded 'new villages' to prevent the guerrillas securing local support. A policy of forced resettlement of Chinese communities which were accessible to guerrillas was introduced in earnest from 1951. Eight new villages were established around Ipoh, including at Jelapang to the north-west, Kampong Simee to the north-east and Kampong Gunung Rapat to the south-east, and over time these have gradually been incorporated into the expanding urban area. Between 1952 and 1959 41 new villages were created in the Kinta Valley which resulted in an extraordinary level of physical dislocation for the Chinese populations there.

Nevertheless, there was continued urban growth with much new post-war building in Ipoh.  A Town Council was established after the war and outlying communities such as at Menglembu were gradually brought under its umbrella. Ipoh was given municipal status on 31 May 1962 when its population stood at over 200,000. This followed several years of elected local government with a Town Council that had taken over from the Town Sanitary Board.  

Importantly the Tasek Industrial Estate was also established to the north of the town near the railway line to Kuala Kangsar and the main north-south road on the site of an old rubber estate. It was principally designed for light industries including small foundries and engineering works, small metal products manufacture, saw-milling, plastics, chemicals, furniture, tobacco products, food processing, rubber products, printing and newspapers. Smaller estates were established at Falim and Menglembu. Several new developments took place from the 1950s, especially to accommodate the increasing population. New low cost housing such as Waller Court was built and opened in May 1962; these can still be seen along Jalan Lim Bo Song; they comprise 500 units in four storeys with raised walkways which incorporate retail outlets as well.  Housing estates and suburban residential areas, both public and private, have also sprung up along and off the main roads leading out of the city, along Jalan Gopeng, Jalan Tambun, Jalan Sibilin and Jalan Pasir Puteh. These include Taman Gopeng, Taman Canning which includes an impressive multi-activity sports complex and football stadium, Pasir  Pinji and Pasir Puteh Baharu and Sibilin.   Ipoh also boasts the first multi-storey car-park in Malaya which was opened in 1962, and it is worth noting that the first traffic lights erected in Malaya were in Ipoh in 1937, the first sodium vapour street lights in 1938 and the first parking meters in the early 1960s. Another significant development was the construction of cinemas in Art deco style from the 1950s – Cathay, Capitol, Grand, Lido, Majestic, Odeon, Rex, Ruby, Sun and Star; all have been converted subsequently into entertainment, business and commercial complexes.
More recently high-rise developments have appeared both in the central area where shop-houses have been demolished, but more particularly on the outskirts of the central area and in the fast expanding suburbs.  The Old Town, for example, is now dwarfed by the Kinta Heights public flats, and new government buildings have sprung up near the padang and along the old Club Road. On the margins of the inner city there has also been the development of hotels including the Excelsior, Casuarina, Heritage, Grand View and the Syuen and both there and on the outskirts of the city numerous shopping malls and leisure centres.
Ipoh was conferred city status by Sultan Azlan Shah on 27 May 1988, and the population today stands at over 700,000.   It is a bustling working city, but also a green city with a large number of open spaces and parks, and lakes and pools where former mining land has been abandoned, especially in the south around the Sultan Azlan Shah Airport, to the west of Pasir Puteh Baharu and to the north of the Kinta River. For example, the Tambun mine some eight kilometres from the centre of the city was once one of the largest tin-mining operations in the Federated Malay States.  Some of the large limestone outcrops also extend almost to the heart of the city like Gunung Cheroh, and there are substantial areas of Malay Reserve Land in such areas as Kepayang. Ipoh is now a major service and administrative centre for the Kinta Valley and the State of Perak as well as having diversified its economy away from those on which it was founded - tin and rubber. 
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Prominent Buildings and Architecture

Colonial Buildings

City Hall and Supreme Court Building

Railway Station and Hotel

Birch Memorial

Kinta Fire Brigade Building

Central Police Station

Royal Ipoh Club

State Secretariat Building

Geological Museum

Kellie’s Castle

Commerce and Leisure

Straits Trading Building

Perak Chinese Mining Association

Chung Thye Phin Building

Eu Tong Sen Medicine Shop

Han Chin Pet Soo

Chinese mansions: Yau Tet Shin Mansion and State Medical and Health Building, Foo Choong Nyit Mansion and Darul Ridzuan Museum

Ali Pitchay’s Townhouse

Education and Schools

Anglo-Chinese School and Anglo-Chinese Girls’ School

The Convent

Sam Tet School

Anderson School

St Michael’s Institution

Religious Buildings

Sultan Idris Shah II Mosque

Indian Muslim Mosque

Pakistani Mosque

Dato Panglima Kinta Mosque

Kampong Paloh Mosque

St Michael’s Church
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